# Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) formation of Fcgr2b deficient mice in lupus mouse model with ischemic reperfusion injury



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Medical Microbiology Medical Microbiology,Interdisciplinary Program GRADUATE SCHOOL Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2020 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

# การศึกษาการเกิด Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) ในหนูเม้าส์ที่ขาด ยืน Fcgr2b ที่เป็นโรคลูปัสที่เกิดจากภาวะไตขาดเลือด



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ สหสาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2563 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) formation of Ecgr2b deficient mice in lupus mouse model with	
	ischemic reperfusion injury	
By	Miss Wilasinee Saisorn	
Field of Study	Medical Microbiology	
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor ASADA LEELAHAVANICHKUL,	
	M.D., Ph.D	
Thesis Co Advisor	Assistant Professor DIREKRIT CHIEWCHENGCHOL,	
	M.D., Ph.D	

Accepted by the GRADUATE SCHOOL, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

Dean of the GRADUATE SCHOOL (Associate Professor THUMNOON NHUJAK, Ph.D.)

#### THESIS COMMITTEE

MITTEE
Chairman
(Professor SANIPA SURADHAT, D.V.M., Ph.D)
Thesis Advisor
(Associate Professor ASADA LEELAHAVANICHKUL,
M.D., Ph.D)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Assistant Professor DIREKRIT CHIEWCHENGCHOL,
M.D., Ph.D)
Examiner
(Sita Virakul, Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Assistant Professor Warangkana Pichaiwong, M.D.)

วิลาสินีย์ สายศร : การศึกษาการเกิด Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) ในหนูเม้าส์ที่ขาด ยืน Fcgr2b ที่เป็นโรคลูบัสที่เกิดจากภาวะไตขาดเลือด. ( Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) formation of Fcgr2b deficient mice in lupus mouse model with ischemic reperfusion injury) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : รศ. ดร.อัษฎาศ์ ลีฬหวนิชกุล, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ผศ. ดร.ดิเรกฤทธิ์ เชี่ยวเชิงชล

้อาการบาดเจ็บจากไตวายเฉียบพลัน (AKI) ที่เกิดจากภาวะไตขาดเลือด (I/R) ถือเป็นสาเหตุสำคัญที่พบได้ บ่อยส่งผลให้เกิดการเจ็บป่วยและเสียชีวิตในผู้ป่วย กับดักนิวโทรฟิล (Neutrophil extracellular traps; NETs) ้ถือว่าเป็นสาเหตุกวามสำคัญที่ส่งผลให้โรกไตอักเสบลูป์สรุนแรงเพิ่มมากขึ้น หลังการบาดเจ็บจากภาวะไตขาดเลือด เนื่องจากนิว ้โทรฟิลเป็นเซลล์แรกที่ตอบสนองต่อการบาคเจ็บของเนื้อเยื่อ องค์ประกอบของกับคักนิวโทรฟิล ได้แก่ คีเอ็นเอที่ปราศจากเซลล์ (Cell-free DNA). ฮิสโตน, นิวคลีโซม รวมถึงโปรคืนในไซโทพลาสมา อาจเป็นแหล่งแอนติเจนของตนเอง (Autoantigens) ที่กระตุ้นให้มีการพัฒนาไปเป็นโรคไตอักเสบภูปัส ดังนั้นโปรเจกนี้จึงมีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อเปรียบเทียบการเกิดกับ ดักนิวโทรฟิลในอวัยวะภายในหลังการบาดเจ็บจากไตขาดเลือดในหนูที่ขาดยืน Fc gamma receptor 2b (Fcgr2b-/-) ซึ่งเป็นโมเคลจำลองของหนูลูปัส และหนูปกติ (Wildtype; WT) ผลการทคลองพบว่าที่ 24 ชั่วโมงหลังการ บาดเจ็บจากภาวะไตขาดเลือด หนู Fcgr2b-/- มีการบ่งชี้กับดักนิวโทรฟิลในระดับที่สูง โดยวัดได้จากการแสดงออกของยืน PAD4, IL-1B, dsDNA และการข้อมด้วยสีอิมมูโนฟลูออเรสเซนต์ ชนิดนิวโทรฟิลอิลาสเตส (Neutrophil elastase; NE) ร่วมกับ ไมอีโลเพอร์ออกซิเคส (Myeloperoxidase; MPO) ภายในไตและในเลือด นอกจากนี้ โปรตีนที่เกี่ยวกับการตายแบบอะพอพโทสิส (Activated caspase-3) ภายในไตของหนู Fcgr2b-/- นั้นก็มีการ เพิ่มขึ้นส่งผลให้มีการสร้างแอนติบอดีต่อ dsDNA ในซีรัมและมีการสะสมของอิมมูโนโกลบูลิน (Immunoglobulin; IgG) ในโกลเมอรูลัสภายในไต ที่ 120 ชั่วโมงหลังการบาคเจ็บจากภาวะไตขาคเลือค การศึกษาใน *in vitro* Fcgr2b-/- นิวโทรฟิลที่ถูกกระตุ้นด้วย phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) หรือ lipopolysaccharide (LPS) เกิดกับดักนิวโทรฟิลและการตายของเซลล์นิวโทรฟิลเด่นชัดกว่านิวโทรฟิลของหนูปกติ ผลการศึกษาแสดงให้เห็นว่าหนู Fcgr2b-/- มีการสร้างกับดักนิวโทรฟิลที่สูงกว่า และไวต่อการตายของเซลล์ทั้งในไตและในอวัยวะอื่นๆ ซึ่งเหนี่ยวนำการ ้สร้างแอนติบอดีต่อ dsDNA ในซีรัมมากขึ้นอันเป็นปัจจัยสำคัญทำให้เกิดโรคไตอักเสบที่รุนแรงขึ้น

# จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

สาขาวิชา จุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ ปีการศึกษา 2563

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	•••
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม	

#### # # 6187224420 : MAJOR MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY

KEYWOR Renal ischemia reperfusion injury, Fcgr2b deficient mice, Lupus D: nephritis, Neutrophil extracellular traps

Wilasinee Saisorn : Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) formation of Fcgr2b deficient mice in lupus mouse model with ischemic reperfusion injury. Advisor: Assoc. Prof. ASADA LEELAHAVANICHKUL, M.D., Ph.D Co-advisor: Asst. Prof. DIREKRIT CHIEWCHENGCHOL, M.D., Ph.D

Acute kidney injury (AKI) caused by renal ischemic reperfusion (I/R) is the most prevalent cause of morbidity and mortality in patients. Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) are important for the progression of lupus nephritis after renal I/R injury. Because neutrophils are the first immune cell that respond to tissue damage, neutrophils might be an important cell that determines renal I/R injury. Additionally, NET components, including cell-free DNA, histone, nucleosome, and cytoplasmic protein compartment release the auto-antigens that accelerate lupus disease activity. Therefore, this project aimed to compare NETs formation in several internal organs following renal I/R injury in Fcgr2b deficient (Fcgr2b-/-) mice, a lupus mouse model, and wildtype (WT) mice. At 24 h after I/R injury, Fcgr2b-/- mice had a higher level of NET biomarkers; PAD4, IL-1 $\beta$  expression, serum dsDNA, and the co-staining of neutrophil elastase (NE) with myeloperoxidase (MPO), in kidney and peripheral blood when compared with WT mice. Furthermore, the cell apoptosis activated caspase-3 in the kidney, serum antidsDNA, and immunoglobulin (IgG) deposition in glomeruli in Fcgr2b-/- mice at 120 h after I/R injury was also higher than the WT mice. Likewise, NETs formation and apoptosis Fcgr2b-/- neutrophils after stimulation with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) were more prominent than WT neutrophils. These findings support that Fcgr2b-/- mice with renal I/R had a higher NETs formation, cell apoptosis in the kidney and in the remote organs that induced serum anti-dsDNA and accelerated lupus disease aggression.

## Chulalongkorn University

Field of Study: Medical Microbiology Student's Signature Academic 2020 Advisor's Signature Year: Co-advisor's Signature iv

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is a genuine pleasure to express my deep sense of thanks and gratitude to my research supervisor Associate Professor ASADA LEELAHAVANICHKUL, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University for giving me the opportunity to do research and providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. His vision and motivation have deeply inspired me. I am extremely grateful for what he has offered me.

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my co-advisor Assistant Professor DIREKRIT CHIEWCHENGCHOL, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University for timely suggestion me with kindness, enthusiasm about the knowledge of neutrophils which is mainly objectively in my research and enable me to complete my thesis.

In addition, I am extremely thankful for my lab team work for providing me necessary technical suggestions during my research pursuit.





# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## Page

	iii
ABSTRACT (THAI)	iii
	iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS.	vi
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER I	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II.	4
OBJECTIVES	4
CHAPTER III	5
LITERATURE REVIEW	5
CHAPTER IV	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
CHAPTER V	44
RESULTS	44
CHAPTER VI	59
DISCUSSION	59
REFERENCES	63
VITA	73

# LIST OF TABLES

## Page

Table	1 The standard characteristics of incidence and result of AKI (33).	6
Table	2 Injury score using histological analysis	37
Table	3 The primers were used in the investigation	42



## LIST OF FIGURES

## Page

Figure 1 The most important causes of acute kidney injury (AKI): prerenal, renal, and postrenal
Figure 2 The variation in the incidence of AKI as shown in the percentages (38)9
Figure 3 Proposed pathways for Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9)-mediated exacerbation of ischemia acute kidney damage in the renal proximal tubule (Adapted from Han SJ., and Lee HT., 2019 (56))
Figure 4 Neutrophil extracellular traps in ischemic acute kidney injury. (Adapt from Bolisetty S., and Agarwal A., 2009 (97))
Figure 5 Sequential steps of suicidal NETosis (Adapt from Van Avondt K.,and Hartl D., 2018 (103))
Figure 6 Pathogenesis of systemic erythematosus lupus (Adapted from Delgado-Rizo V, et al., 2018 (135))
Figure 7 The AKI characterization after renal ischemia reperfusion. A; blood urea nitrogen, B; serum creatinine, C; serum anti-dsDNA, D; alanine transaminase, E; serum TNF- $\alpha$ , F; serum IL-6, G; serum IL-1 $\beta$ , and H; serum dsDNA45
Figure 8 Neutrophils of Fcgr2b-/- and WT mice performed NET formation at 24 h after renal I/R, which are detectable by CLSM using DAPI (A), MPO and NE (B), and CitH3 (C) staining
Figure 9 The injurious histological score of kidney (A) and lung (B), as well as the photographs of kidney and lung (C) with hematoxylin and eosin staining
Figure 10 NET formation on the damageable kidney (A), lung (B) liver (C), and heart (D) after 24 h of renal I/R injury
Figure 11 Renal ischemia reperfusion (I/R) induced more prominent apoptosis at 24 h and induced immunoglobulin G (IgG) deposition at 120 h in renal and lung of lupus prone mice
Figure 12 The gene expression of PAD4 (A) and IL-1 $\beta$ (B) was detected in blood neutrophils and the differentiation of PAD4 (C) and IL-1 $\beta$ (D) overexpression in each internal organ

Figure 13 The expression of inflammatory cytokine-related genes ( <i>TNF-<math>\alpha</math></i> , <i>IL-6</i> , and
IL-10) of kidney (A-C), lung (D-F), liver (G-I), and heart (J-L) in Fcgr2b-/- and WT
mice with ischemia reperfusion injury are demonstrated
Figure 14 NET formation in Fcgr2b-/- or WT neutrophils after activation by PMA or
LPS with several NET parameters are visualized by CLSM (A-B), the amount of
several NET parameters in Fcgr2b-/- or WT neutrophils after activation by PMA or
LPS are demonstrated
Figure 15 The validation of apoptosis (A), necrosis (B), and the production of



#### **CHAPTER I**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a common health care problem worldwide caused by ischemia and/or toxic substances (1), which are frequently represented by the renal ischemia reperfusion injury (I/R) model (2, 3). AKI is an immediate or rapid decrease in kidney function, which causes multi-organ injury and increases risk of the disease progression into the chronic phase of injury, referred to as "chronic kidney disease (CKD) or end-stage renal disease (ESRD)"(4, 5). In addition, elderly, high blood pressure, proteinuria, and diabetes are the risk factors that enhance the severity of AKI (6, 7). The pathogenesis and the consequences of AKI, including renal cell necrosis, cytokine production, and leukocyte activation (8, 9), are also the well-known exacerbating factor of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), a common auto-immune disease. As such, SLE is caused by auto-antibodies against several systems, due to the defect of self-tolerance, that can be facilitated by several AKI-associated factors, especially cell deaths and pro-inflammatory responses (10, 11).

The loss of the functional Fc gamma receptor 2b (Fcgr2b), which is the only inhibitory receptors in the FcgR family (12-14), lead to SLE, and the prevalence of Fcgr2b dysfunction polymorphism is high in the Asian population (15). The Fcgr2b deficient mice (Fcgr2b-/-) are used as a representative lupus model that develops lupus spontaneously in an age-dependent characteristic, ranging from "asymptomatic lupus prone" to "symptomatic lupus" at the younger and older than 16-24 weeks, respectively (16). In Fcgr2b-/- mice, the lack of inhibitory signaling triggers immune hyper-responsiveness to self-antigens or pathogen molecules, such as pneumococcal antigens and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (13, 16, 17). Because dsDNA is an important self-antigen in lupus, anti-dsDNA is an important lupus autoantibody. Normally, dsDNAs are retained within the nuclei, and circulating free DNA is detectable only after a certain amount of cell death that causing free DNA in blood circulation as a part of "damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs)" for innate immunity activation (18). Likewise, dsDNA, a part of free DNA from damaged cells, could be processed as an autoantigen in lupus. Because innate immunity triggers adaptive immune responses including the production of anti-dsDNA (19, 20), innate immunity and inflammation plays an important role in lupus exacerbation (21, 22). Due to a lack of immune self-tolerance, lupus-prone persons highly expressed anti-dsDNA when exposed dsDNA (23), in contrast to the normal people. Several processes of cell breakdown (with or without apoptosis) are the primary causes of dsDNA exposure in lupus, as shown by UV-induced apoptosis in skin (24) and neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) in several situations (25-27). Although neutrophil extracellular DNA networks in NETs are specifically designed to bind pathogens for extracellular killing activity, NETs are also detectable in severe organ injury from non-infectious causes (28).

Because neutrophils are the most abundant immune cells that migrate throughout blood circulation and to the injury site with a short lifespan and they are capable of producing reactive oxygen species (ROS) for microbicidal activity, NETs might be found in AKI and become an important exacerbating factor of lupus (29). Similarly, NETs formation associated-inflammation during the lupus exacerbation might also become a significant source of dsDNA (30). Surprisingly, there is still a scarcity of information on the impact of AKI on lupus. Therefore, this research investigates NETs formation of the kidney after an ischemic reperfusion (I/R) injury in wild type and Fcgr2b deficient mice, acted as a lupus model, as well as explores the effects of AKI of lupus in several organs.



#### **CHAPTER II**

#### **OBJECTIVES**

- 1. To determine *in vitro* NET formation on Fcgr2b deficient or wild type neutrophils after several NETs inducers.
- 2. To investigate *in vivo* NET formation on various internal organs after renal ischemic reperfusion in wild type and Fcgr2b deficient mice.



#### CHAPTER III

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 1. Acute kidney injury (AKI)

Acute kidney injury (AKI) or acute renal failure (ARF) is an intractable problem that affects to one quarter of all hospitalized patients worldwide (6). AKI is the term of renal impaired development from mild alteration to complete organ failure, called renal injury, whereas the kidney structure has not a differentiation. This disease is characterized by acute onset and severe condition that cause renal failure in a short time, which is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the patients (31). The categories of risk, injury, failure, loss, and end-stage renal disease are the standardized evidence of incidence and disease progression from AKI (32). The Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) classified the AKI severity into three stages using either a rapid increase in serum creatinine or a critical decrease in urine creatinine excretion as shown in Table 1

AKI stage	Serum creatinine	Urine output
Stage I	• Increase $\geq 0.3 \text{ mg/dL}$ (26.5 $\mu$ mol/L); or	• Urine volume <0.5
	• Increase to 1.5-1.9 times from baseline	mL/kg/h for 6-12 h
Stage II	• Increase to 2.0-2.9 times from baseline	• Urine volume <0.5
		mL/kg/h for $\geq 12$ h
Stage III	• Increase to $\geq 0.3$ times from baseline; or	• Urine volume <0.3
	• Serum creatinine $\geq 4.0 \text{ mg/dL}$ ( $\geq 354$	mL/kg/h for $\geq$ 24 h; or
	µmol/L); or	• Anuria for ≥12 h
	• Initiation of renal replacement therapy;	
	or	
	• Decrease in glomerular filtration rate to	
	<35 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> in patients <18	
	years	

 Table 1 The standard characteristics of incidence and result of AKI (33).

### Chulalongkorn University

#### 2. AKI etiology

The filtration and excretion of nitrogenous waste products from the blood is one of the most vital functions of the kidney, which measured using the elevation of blood urea nitrogen and creatinine as indicators, indicating that the declined renal function, especially glomerular filtration rate (GFR) (34). Although, the elderly, high blood pressure, proteinuria, and diabetes are also risk factors for AKI, sepsis is the major causes of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients followed by cardiogenic shock, complications with medications, hypovolemia, hepatorenal syndrome, and obstructive uropathy (35). The most causes of AKI are clinically classified into three primary etiologies e.g., i) prerenal (decreased renal function without pathological abnormality), ii) intrinsic renal (kidney damage-glomerular or tubular), and iii) postrenal (blockage of the urinary tract such as kidney stones, blood clot in the urinary tract or problems with the nervous system that affect the bladder and urination) (36) (Figure 1). Four structures of kidney including the tubules, the glomeruli, the interstitial, and the intrarenal blood vessels are the major area when considering etiologies of intrinsic renal failure.

#### 2.1 Acute glomerulonephritis (AGN)

This damage occurs in an idiopathic rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis or a systemic disease i.e., bacterial endocarditis, Wegener's granulomatosis, or lupus erythematosus (34).

2.2 Acute tubular necrosis (ATN)

Two major causes are i) ischemic is caused by severe or protracted decrease in renal perfusion and ii) nephrotoxic resulting from several exogenous and endogenous compounds are potentially toxic to kidney (34).

2.3 Acute interstitial nephritis (AIN)

The injury of intrarenal vessels affects to the reduction of renal perfusion and glomerular filtration rate, which result from various causes such as malignant hypertension, atheroembolic disease, and preeclampsia or eclampsia (34).



Figure 1 The most important causes of acute kidney injury (AKI): prerenal, renal, and postrenal.

#### 3. Epidemiology of AKI

AKI causes demonstrated that approximately 25 to 60% were prerenal etiologies and 35 to 70% were renal etiologies, depending on AKI occurs in the hospital (hospital-acquired) or prior to hospitalization (community-acquired). More than 80% of renal etiologies was ischemic injury or nephrotoxins. In addition, community-acquired cases were higher than hospital-acquired cases in postrenal etiologies. AKI has been increasing an incidence and rates of hospitalized AKI patients in intensive unit (ICU) were as high as 67%, which are associated with considerable mortality (37). Importantly, patients with AKI were able to survive requiring continue dialytic therapy and recover renal function. Consequently, AKI has serious acute and chronic sequelae (Figure 2).



Figure 2 The variation in the incidence of AKI as shown in the percentages (38).

#### 4. AKI pathophysiology

As over 80% of renal etiologies was ischemic injury, associations of pathophysiology, hemodynamics, and inflammation are extensively studied as the hallmark feature of AKI.

#### 4.1 AKI-induced acute tubular necrosis

Acute tubular necrosis (ATN) correctly associated with the site of injury, related to renal epithelial cells through necrosis (39), and the decreased filtration rate of glomeruli (40, 41). The injury of renal tubular epithelial cells play a key feature of the initiation phase of AKI (42), resulting in severe cellular ATP depletion that leads to acute cell injury and dysfunction (43). Renal ischemia rapidly stimulates the differentiation of architecture and responsibility in renal proximal tubular epithelial cells through destroy the framework of filamentous actin, depending on the severity and duration of ischemic injury. The continued hypoxia following the initial ischemia and systemic inflammatory response are the major event of the extension phase (44). This phase occurs cell injury and death with necrosis and apoptosis (8). In addition, cell repairment, migration, apoptosis, and proliferation affect to slowly improving cellular and organ functions known as maintenance and recovery phases (35).

#### 4.2 Hemodynamic-associated renal injury

The prominent infiltration of leukocytes, especially neutrophils (45), following ischemic reperfusion injury has two main events containing leukocyte adhesion on activated endothelial cells, and then red blood cell congestion, respectively, affecting to a compromise renal function through influencing renal hemodynamics. The effects of attached leukocytes lead to impair renal function in AKI including i) leukocytes may hinder the capillary flow, especially renal medulla and worsen hypoxia, ii) leukocytes may produce molecules exacerbating vasoconstriction i.e., ROS, and iii) leukocytes may be to increase tubular lumen pressure and reduce filtration rate of glomeruli when they contribute to parenchymal cell injury. These events may progress to the extension phase of AKI (46).

4.3 Inflammatory signals in AKI

Due to leukocyte adhesiveness on activated endothelial cells, the inflammatory cytokines promoting further kidney injury such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, and TGF- $\beta$  of tubular epithelial cells and IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8, and ROS of leukocytes. The elevation of IL-1 $\beta$  in mice with ischemic reperfusion injury indicating that the increased neutrophil infiltration, whereas IL-8 produce and act as the initial biomarker of acute injury, as well as IL-6 may also support the AKI inflammation. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) interact with the conditions of autoimmunity and inflammation, especially TLR4 (47), which expressed within 24 h of injury and may enhance the proinflammatory state of I/R injury. TLRs are transmembrane pattern recognition receptors expressed in leukocytes and renal tubular epithelial cells (48). When exogenous microbial ligands (pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)) are recognized, TLRs play a key role in triggering innate immune responses. Specific PAMPs are recognized by different kinds of TLRs. In mice, there are 12 TLR receptors while 10 TLR receptors in humans (49-51). Whereas TLRs are not only recognize pathogens, but they also detect endogenous ligand DAMPs, such as histones, HMGB1, and mitochondrial DNA (52). TLR9 is also suggested as a potential mediator for I/R injury because of the TLR9 activation by mitochondrial DNA release from the cell injury which plays role in several organ injury, including hepatic (53), cardiac (54) and kidney. The mitochondrial DNA is an important endogenous ligand for TLR9 during cell injury (55). When TLR9 activation leads to NF $\kappa$ B- mediated induction and production of pro-inflammatory chemokines, and cytokines and caspase 3/8-mediated renal tubular apoptosis (56, 57) (Figure 3).



**Figure 3** Proposed pathways for Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9)-mediated exacerbation of ischemia acute kidney damage in the renal proximal tubule (Adapted from Han SJ., and Lee HT., 2019 (56))

#### 5. Animal model of AKI

AKI is associated with varied underlying etiologies, including sepsis (58), rhabdomyolysis (59), and drug toxicity (60). Patient outcomes depend on the disease severity. The higher mortality of AKI is demonstrated in critically ill patients (61). Importantly, patients who survive an episode of AKI have a higher risk of severe adverse cardiovascular events, as well as the progression into chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (62, 63). The renal physiology has been studies using animal models, especially rats and mice; however, there are significant differences between the animal models and human conditions. Despite the differenced, rodents are still the frequently preferred models for the experiments because of their potential for fast colony development and the availability of genetic modification for functional investigations. As a result, animal models of AKI are important for identifying the causes of renal dysfunction and development of therapeutic and diagnostic techniques. Due to the smaller size, mice have been the major experimental species used to study AKI in order to achieve this aim. Here, some of the commonly use AKI model are mentioned.

#### 5.1 Sepsis and sepsis-associated AKI

One of the outcomes of sepsis, which is characterized by a severe inflammation response to infection, is acute kidney injury. Sepsis is a complex illness characterized by dysregulated host response to infection and associated with a high mortality rate (64) as well as an increased risk of chronic comorbidities. This has limited our understanding of pathophysiologic mechanisms and precluded the development of effective therapies. Systemic cytokine storm, hypoxia, mitochondrial dysfunction, tubular epithelial cell damage, and endothelial dysfunction are all factors in the pathophysiology of sepsis-associated acute kidney injury (65). The most important pathogenesis of sepsis-AKI is renal hypoxia which could be induced by several procedures.

#### 5.2 Cecal-ligation and puncture (CLP) induced sepsis

Cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) is one of the most often utilized techniques in the laboratory to generate experimental sepsis (66). CLP causes sepsis in the form of stercoral peritonitis after a minor surgery (67). Bacteremia then follows, with an initial inflammatory phase followed by an anti-inflammatory reaction (66). Both Gram positive and Gram-negative bacteria infiltrate the bloodstream over time, causing a progressive systemic inflammatory response syndrome, septic shock, and multiorgan damage, including sepsis-associated acute kidney injury (68). The cytokine profile of CLP-induced sepsis is similar to that of human sepsis (69, 70). In addition, CLP-induced sepsis increases lymphocyte apoptosis, which mimics immunosuppression in human sepsis at the late stage (69) Furthermore, as measured by increases in BUN and creatinine, AKI is not usually detected in this model (71). As a result, CLP model contains common clinical characteristics of sepsis, it overlooks important elements such as acute lung injury (71, 72).

#### 5.3 Folic acid-induced nephropathy

Due to renal tubular epithelial damage caused by both folic acid crystal deposition and consequent tubular blockage, as well as direct nephrotoxicity from high-dose folic acid (73). Folic acid injection could be used as an AKI model; however, it rapidly develops renal fibrosis (a key finding of chronic kidney disease; CKD) within develops 7–14 days after injection (74). The CKD continues to progress weeks thereafter and can be exacerbated with repeated administration of folic acid (75). Hence, this model is more frequently used as a rapid CKD model, despite it could be also used as an AKI model.

#### 5.4 Ischemia reperfusion injury (I/R) model

Mouse model of kidney ischemia reperfusion (I/R) injury: warm ischemia and reperfusion injury models is the most commonly used model of AKI. In these models, renal blood flow is temporarily interrupted for some periods ranging from 20 to 45 minutes followed by the reperfusion. The atraumatic clamps are released, and the color of the kidneys on both sides is checked to ensure reperfusion (changes from dark purple to pink). After a period of ischemia or lack of oxygen (anoxia or hypoxia), I/R injury damage occurs when blood flow returns to tissue (8). The restoration of blood circulation results in tissue inflammation by reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, release of cytokines and chemokines, and the activation of leukocytes. The severity of damage depends on duration of tissue ischemia (9, 48). Changes in plasma creatinine (76) and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) can be used for the quick evaluation on kidney function.

#### 6. Innate immune responses in AKI

During the injury, the immune system plays a critical role in regulating wound healing response through the initiation of inflammation. Although hyperinflammatory responses in kidney might lead to renal fibrosis, the too less inflammation also prolong the healing process. Then, an appropriate innate immune response is necessary for the complete renal healing process with the more complete tubular regeneration. The sequential activation of innate immune responses, following by cytokine release and the interaction between renal cells and immune cells, will be mentioned. Also, the adaptive immune responses in tissue damage and healing are also included.

## จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# 6.1 Neutrophils

Polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs or neutrophils), the most common leukocyte in human blood, are an important component of the innate immune system (77). They have multilobed nucleus (3 to 5 lobes), a short life span in the circulation, and are the first respond to injury or infections. In human, there are approximately 40-65% of neutrophils in all white blood cells while in the mice contains about 20-30% neutrophils (78, 79). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced by neutrophils and can be utilized to kill pathogens. Other important functions of neutrophils including chemotaxis, phagocytosis and neutralizing pathogens by releasing neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (80). The tissue damage leads to neutrophil activation and ROS production due to various factors, including hypoxia and reperfusion injury (81).

Following I/R injury, neutrophils are the first leukocytes to accumulate in the kidney, and their production of ROS, proteinases, elastase, and myeloperoxidase contributes to further renal injury after reperfusion (82). Stimulated neutrophils are the most intense physiological producers of superoxide anions through the activation of the NADPH oxidase upon adhesion or by pro-inflammatory cytokines (56). Furthermore, renal neutrophil recruitment, which includes transmigration, peaks at approximately 24 h after damage (25, 82).

#### 6.1.1 Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETosis)

Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) were discovered in 2004 (83), also known as NETosis, are web-like structures that eliminate extracellular microorganisms by trapping invasive pathogens (bacteria, viruses, fungi, and protozoa) (84). NETs structure consists of nuclear components such as de-condensed DNA and histones, as well as neutrophil granules such as myeloperoxidase (MPO), citrullinase histone H3 (CitH3), and neutrophil elastase (NE) (83). Excessive NETosis causes physical abnormalities and organ damage in several diseases, including SLE, atherosclerosis, and rheumatoid arthritis (9, 85). In addition, Peptidyl arginine deiminase-4 (PAD4) is involved in the NET formation. Meanwhile, PADs 1-3 and PAD6 are cytoplasmic enzymes (86). PAD4 is found in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus (87, 88), with granulocytes being the most abundant (86). The function of PAD4 is to eliminate residual arginine in histone structure, resulting in a reduction in positive charge and de-condensation of DNA strands (89).

PAD4 in neutrophils are important for renal I/R-induced AKI. I/R injury increases PAD4 in renal tubular cell, and PAD4-deficient mice are protected against I/R-induced kidney injury (90). As a result, PAD4 might be implicated in signal transduction, resulting in inflammatory responses following I/R injury. In the *in vitro* study, Cl-amidine (PAD inhibitor) prevents citrullination of histone 3 and significantly decreased NETs formation (91) in lupus prone mice (92). Therefore, PAD inhibitors are expected to reduce the production of the pathogenic autoantibody in the SLE model (93). Furthermore, platelets and DNA-released necrotic cells promote the development of NETs in granulocytes after I/R damage (94) (Figure 4). Likewise, cell-free DNA (cfDNA) in SLE serum is significantly higher than in healthy control and cfDNA in patients with active LN is higher than patients with non-active LN. The cfDNA quantification in LN is positively associated with lupus characteristics and neutrophil counts (95, 96). Then cfDNA counted by the PicoGreen assay for the determination of lupus activity is interesting.





#### 6.1.2 NETosis pathway

After neutrophils detect the stimulators, they can generate the NADPH oxidase complex, which activates ROS production (98). ROS is not only has microbicidal properties, but it also enhances the activity of PAD4, a protein that citrullinates histones. After that, neutrophil elastase (NE) and myeloperoxidase MPO translocate to the nucleus (99), where they process and cleave core histones resulting

in chromatin de-condensation and mobilization (Figure 5) (100). Hence, NETs consist of decondensed chromatin (DNA, nucleoproteins, and histones) and cytoplasmic proteins which include NE, MPO, protease 3, cathepsin G and neutrophil serine protease 4 (101). Moreover, calcium flux and zinc signals are linked to the production of ROS and histone citrullination by PAD4, two main important processes of NETosis (102).



**Figure 5** Sequential steps of suicidal NETosis (Adapt from Van Avondt K.,and Hartl D., 2018 (103)).

#### 6.2 Monocytes/Macrophages

In the early phases of renal I/R injury, macrophages play a role in the innate immune response, but they also promote tubular healing and long-term kidney fibrosis. After recruitment into injury site, monocytes differentiate into functionally different macrophage subsets (M1 and M2 macrophage) (104). M1 macrophage release chemokines, pro-inflammatory cytokines (105) whereas M2 macrophages are involved in wound healing and immunoregulation. These immuno-regulatory macrophages release anti-inflammatory mediators (106). In the ischemic kidney of mice, macrophage infiltration begins to increase at 1 hour, peaks at 24 hours, and continues for 7 days after reperfusion.

#### 6.3 Dendritic cells (DCs)

Dendritic cells that express CD11c and MHC class II are abundant in the interstitial of normal kidneys and play an important role in the link between innate and adaptive immunity (107). Renal DCs have two main functions: they act as antigen-presenting cells to T cells, and they release TNF- $\alpha$ , a major pro-inflammatory mediator early after injury.

#### 7. Fc gamma receptors

People of Southeast Asian and African ancestry, who live in malaria-endemic areas (108), reduced Fcgr2b function may provide a survival advantage against parasite infection (13). Reduced inhibitory function produced by Fcgr2b- I232T (threonine substitution for isoleucine at the 232 position) causes increased B cell and myeloid cell activation. Even though it predisposes to SLE, a highly active immune system may be beneficial in response to infection (109). As such, Fcgr2b-deficient mice are resistant to severe clinical symptoms following infection with *Plasmodium chabaudi chabaudi*, a rodent malaria parasite with some parallels to *Plasmodium falciparum* infection in humans (13)

Consequently, Fc gamma receptors (FcgRs) are immune receptors that have an important role in response to antigens and clearance of immune complexes (110). FcgRs are a family of proteins that are produced by a variety of immune cells and perform biological functions by binding to the Fc region of IgG to effectively regulate inflammation and infection. Fcgr2b is most well-known function to regulate serum antibody levels via a negative feedback loop, suppressing B cells when sufficient antibodies are produced (11, 111). Fcgr2b deficiency interacts with a number of C57BL/6-specific genes to induce a spontaneous SLE-like disease, characterized by the presence of autoantibodies against chromatin and the development of lethal glomerulonephritis (10, 112). Fcgr2b signals through an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) to suppress downstream processed such as cellular proliferation, phagocytosis, and inflammatory cytokine release when immune

complexes bind to activating Fc receptors on myeloid-lineage cells or the B cell receptor on B cells (113).

FcgRs are divided into two types; activating and inhibitory receptors, which are mostly found on the surface of immune cells. In human, the activating receptors are the high-affinity FcgRI (CD64), low-affinity FcgRII (2a and 2c; CD32), FcgRIII (3a and 3b; CD16), and FcgRIV (114). In mice, FcgRs consist of FcgrI, FcgrIII, and FcgrIV receptors and Fcgr2b is the only inhibitory receptor in humans and mice (115). Furthermore, activating signaling occurs through immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motifs (ITAMs), and inhibitory signaling occurs through immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIMs), both of which are important negative feedback mechanisms for controlling the antibody production (116). In previous study, the induction of autoimmune disease in mice using resveratrol (polyphenol compound) in Fcgr2b deficient mice develop autoantibody production and IC-mediated glomerulonephritis (117). The meta-analysis illustrates that the abnormality of FcgRs contributes to SLE susceptibility and progression (118). Therefore, the balance between FcgR activation and inhibition signals is important for immune regulation of antibody production, and the loss of Fcgr2b activity accelerates lupus progression.

#### 8. Disease-stimulated AKI

The systemic inflammation and tissue injury play a pivotal characteristic in the pathophysiology of AKI, which associated between autoantibody and antibody-driven diseases e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), lupus Nephritis (LN), and neutrophil-related lupus nephritis.

#### 8.1 Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic inflammatory disease that effects several organs and has a wide range of symptoms, ranging from minor cutaneous involvement to severe major organ damage. SLE is more prevalent in woman than in males with all ethnic group, with a ratio of female: male at 8:1 (119). The pathogenesis of SLE is a complex interaction between the immune system, hormones, and environmental factors, as well as genetic predisposition and epigenetic modifications, which can make the patient more susceptible to various pathogens (120, 121). SLE is caused by a loss of self-tolerance accompanied by excessive activation of autoreactive T cells, which increase autoantibody production by activated B cells, as well as high releases of pro-inflammatory cytokines that further exacerbate the immune responses (122). SLE patients may experience a variety of symptoms, including fatigue, skin rashes, fevers, and arthritis (123). Furthermore, lupus nephritis (LN), a kidney disease caused by SLE, is a major cause of morbidity and mortality of lupus and a leading cause of CKD and ESRD (124).

#### 8.2 Lupus Nephritis (LN)

Lupus nephritis (LN) in Asians and Africans are more severe than the Caucasians leading to CKD in these ethnics (125). LN is characterized by renal deposition of immune complexes (IC). IgG antinuclear autoantibodies against several self-components (dsDNA, nucleosome, and histones) (126, 127) correlate with clinical symptoms and contribute to renal pathology in LN patients (128-130). Clinically, LN is characterized by periods of remission interspersed with episodes of disease activity (flare-ups). If these inflammatory processes are not effectively and rapidly treated, glomerulosclerosis, interstitial fibrosis, tubular atrophy, and progressive kidney failure will develop, leading to ESRD and the requirement for renal replacement therapy (125). Furthermore, anti-dsDNA can promote inflammation and contribute to disease development by the formation of IC with chromatin exposed on apoptotic cells and subsequent recruitment of Fc gamma receptor myeloid cells, as well as the fixation of complement (131). According to previous studies, during inflammation, an increasing number of cells undergo apoptosis (and secondary necrosis), resulting in the release of intracellular components such as nucleosome. Antibodies against dsDNA may bind to these nucleosomes, causing the kidney deposition (132, 133). Moreover, the Fc gamma receptor (FcgR) polymorphism in human is one of the susceptible factors of SLE and LN (134).

#### 8.3 Neutrophil-related lupus nephritis

Lupus nephritis is caused by the deposition of circulating immune complex (CIC) in kidney. Hence, an increase in production of CIC increases lupus activity and severity. The source of autoantigens in lupus is derived from several processes, especially cell apoptosis and NETosis. As such, NETs release several immunogenic structures that are recognized by several autoantibodies, such as antibodies against myeloperoxidase or proteinase-3, which produce anti-double-stranded DNA, anti-histones, and anti-nucleosomes (78). Moreover, antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) could bind with HMGB1, which is recognized by toll-like receptors that might induce several mediators including IFN- $\alpha$  and promote NET formation.

The pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, enhance the differentiation of autoantibody-secreting autoreactive B cells leading to increased production of circulating immune complex (CIC). Another well-known pathway associated with increased antibody production in lupus is mediated by the releasing of autoantigens from apoptotic cells or secondary necrotic cells (SNECs). Finally, the autoantigens from all of these cell death pathways enhance CIC production and the recognition of CIC, in part by Fc gamma receptor, leads to the pro-inflammatory state that contributes to the more tissue injury in patients (135) (Figure 6).


Figure 6 Pathogenesis of systemic erythematosus lupus (Adapted from Delgado-Rizo

V, et al., 2018 (135))



#### **CHAPTER IV**

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1. Animal studies and surgical protocol

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, under approval number 009/2564 and followed the protocol of the National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA, consented to all animal experimental methods. C57BL/6 wild type mice and Fcgr2b-/- deficient mice between 8 to 10 weeks old that were weight between 20 to 25 grams were used in this study. Fc gamma receptor 2b deficient on a C57BL/6 background (Fcgr2b-/-) have been provided by Dr. Silvia Bolland (NIAID, NIH, Maryland, USA), and wild type (WT) mice have been purchased from Nomura Siam International (Pathumwan, Bangkok, Thailand). Mice were maintained with standard diet and water during the experiment.

#### 1.1 Renal ischemia reperfusion injury model

Renal ischemic reperfusion injury (I/R) was performed by clamping both renal arteries according to a previous study (136). In brief, bilateral renal arteries were clamped for 35 min through the abdominal incision under isoflurane anesthesia on a 37°C heated operation table before 2 layers abdominal suture. Both renal arteries were identified through abdominal incision before the abdominal wall for the sham surgery.

The final concentration of 10 mg/kg/dose of tramadol was administered subcutaneously after surgery and mice were sacrificed at 24, 48, 72, and 120 h under isoflurane anesthesia for sample collection. Serum was kept at -80°C until analysis and various internal organs were processed in 10% formalin or Tissue-Tek O.C.T compound (Sakura Finetek, CA, USA) for histological analysis or snap frozen and stored separately at -80°C.

#### 2. The AKI characterization of blood serum

Serum creatinine and serum urea nitrogen acted as the AKI indicator, whereas the elevation of serum anti-dsDNA was used for determination of the lupus characteristics. In addition, serum pro-inflammatory cytokine, liver injury, and the quantification of NETs were also evaluated the inflammatory after renal ischemia reperfusion injury. The amount of serum anti-dsDNA and NETs were assessed using blood serum of the WT mice as the baseline. Parameters of AKI characteristics containing serum cytokine, liver injury, and NETosis (cell death from NETs formation) were evaluated from blood serum as follows.

#### 2.1 Serum creatinine assay

Serum creatinine was measured using QuantiChrom Creatinine-Assay kit (BioAssay, Hayward, CA, USA) following the manufacturer instructions. Briefly, 200 µL of mixed working reagent A and B were immediately added and mixed into wells containing 30  $\mu$ L of blood serum in a clear bottom 96-well plate. The optical density at a wavelength of 510 nm was quickly determined and then at 5 min by a Varioskan Flash spectrophotometer (Thermo) using the standard creatinine as the baseline. The amount of creatinine in blood should be more than 0.3 mg/dL.

#### 2.2 Serum urea nitrogen (BUN) assay

The standard assay of urea nitrogen (BUN) colorimetric detection kit (Invitrogen) was used for quantified the level of urea in serum as the following. The serum samples were diluted with distilled water and transferred 50  $\mu$ L of diluted sample to 96-well plate, and then 75  $\mu$ L of the color reagent A and B was added in to each well, respectively. The absorbance at a wavelength of 450 nm was measured after a prolonged 30 min incubation at room temperature using the urea nitrogen standard as the baseline. The normal range of urea nitrogen in serum is 5 to 20 mg/dL.

# ิจุหาลงกรณีมหาวิทยาลัย ในแผน ดนอะออน ปไมนชรถอะร

2.3 Serum anti-dsDNA assay

The anti-dsDNA was evaluated using a protocol with coated-calf thymus DNA (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) (29). Briefly, plate was incubated with calf thymus DNA at 4°C overnight, then filled with blocking solution at room temperature, and washed with 1X phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4) with 0.05% Tween 20, respectively. Subsequently, mouse serum samples were added into the plate and incubation was continue overnight at 4°C. Then, HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse

antibody (BioLegend, USA) and TMB peroxidase substrate (TMB Substrate Set; BioLegend, USA) were added to the analyzed plates and incubated at room temperature for 1 h and 15 min, respectively. The solution of 2 N  $H_2SO_4$  was added to stop the reaction. The measurement at a wavelength of 450 nm was determined using spectrophotometer (Thermo).

2.4 Alanine transaminase assay

Liver injury was evaluated by the activity of alanine transaminase (ALT) using EnzyChrom ALT assay (EALT-100, BioAssay). Briefly, 20  $\mu$ L of each sample was added with the working reagent was prepared by mixing 200  $\mu$ L of assay buffer, 5  $\mu$ L of cosubstrate, 1  $\mu$ L of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), and 4  $\mu$ L of reconstituted NADH per well reaction. The analyzed plate was immediately tapped to mix and incubated at room temperature. The kinetics of alanine transaminase were recorded with the rate of NADH consumption by the absorbance at a wavelength of 340 nm after incubation at 5 and 10 min, respectively. The average normal range of ALT kinetics is 24 U/L.

#### 2.5 Determination of serum pro-inflammatory and NETs associated cytokines

Serum pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) and NETs associated cytokine (IL-1 $\beta$ ) were quantified using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA; Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer instructions. First, 100  $\mu$ L of capture

antibody diluted with 1X PBS was added into each ELISA-plate well, and plates were then incubated at 4°C overnight. The coated ELISA plate was washed 3 times with wash buffer (1X PBS with 0.05% Tween 20), blocked with 1X ELISA/ELISPOT diluent, and incubated at room temperature for 1 h, respectively. Serum samples were diluted using 1X ELISA/ELISPOT diluent, transferred 100  $\mu$ L of diluted sample into each well of ELISA plate, and incubated at 4°C overnight. After a prolonged overnight incubation, ELISA plate was washed thrice with wash buffer before adding 100  $\mu$ L of diluted detection antibody to all wells and incubating at room temperature for 1 h. Subsequently, ELISA plate was washed thrice with wash buffer, added 100  $\mu$ L of diluted Streptavidin-HRP or Biotin-HRP, and then incubated for 30 min at room temperature. The ELISA plate was washed 5 times with wash buffer, added 100  $\mu$ L of 1X tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate solution, incubated at room temperature for 15 min, and then added 100  $\mu$ L of 2 N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> to stop the reaction, respectively. A Varioskan Flash spectrophotometer (Thermo) was used to determine the measurement at a wavelength of 450 nm.

> จุฬาสงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University

2.6 Quantification of NETs

A Quant-iT<sup>TM</sup> PicoGreen<sup>TM</sup> dsDNA Assay Kit (Invitrogen, USA) was used to quantify NETs following the manufacturer instructions. Briefly, 100  $\mu$ L of serum sample diluted with 1X TE buffer was added with 100  $\mu$ L of working reagent and incubated for 5 min a room temperature in the dark. After incubation, the sample was quantified the fluorescent intensity by a spectrophotometer (Thermo) using the standard fluorescein wavelengths of excitation at 480 nm and those of emission at 520 nm.

#### 3. The AKI characterization on polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN)

3.1 AKI-associated PMN characterization

3.1.1 Neutrophil isolation

To evaluate the differentiation of PMN after renal ischemia reperfusion injury in Fcgr2b-/- and wild type mice, peripheral blood was collected into heparin tubes by cardiac puncture under isoflurane anesthesia. Whole blood was separated using sodium Polymorphprep<sup>TM</sup>, containing diatrizoate  $(C_{11}H_8I_3N_2N_aO_4)$ and a polysaccharide solution (8% (w/v); Alere Technologies AS, Norway), at a ratio of 1:1, and by centrifugation at 1800 rpm for 30 min at room temperature with no deceleration force, respectively. Then, the layer of polymorphonuclear cells (PMN) was collected and washed with RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) by centrifugation at 1800 rpm for 5 min. Subsequently, the contaminated red blood cells (RBCs) were removed using ammonium chloride lysis buffer, polymorphonuclear cells were pelleted at 1800 rpm for 5 min, and rested in fresh FBS-contained RPMI 1640, respectively. Neutrophils was >95% of purity and variability as visualized using the trypan blue exclusion method. The concentration of  $2 \times 10^5$  cells of neutrophils was used for the functional assays.

#### 3.1.2 Determination of AKI-associated PMN characterization

The concentration of  $2 \times 10^5$  cells of neutrophils was laid on the poly L-lysine coated cover slip in 24-well plates and incubated in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C for 2 h. Neutrophil-attached glass cover was fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 1X PBS for 10 min, carefully removed the cover glass, and put down the side of fixed sample on a drop of PBS (parafilm sheet covered 24-well plate). Then, the fixed sample was thrice washed for 5 min in PBS, incubated for 1 min in 1X PBS with 0.05% Tween 20 to permeabilize the cells, and blocked using 1X PBS with 2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 30 min at room temperature, respectively. To visualize the AKI-induced NETs, NETs markers were detected with antibodies against neutrophil elastase (NE; ab68672), myeloperoxidase (MPO; ab25989), and citrullinated histone H3 (citrulline R2 + R8 + R17; ab5103) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) were used to identify the cells, which were incubated at 4°C overnight. Subsequently, the cover glass was rinsed 3 times with 1X PBS and incubated for 1 h at room temperature with various secondary antibody including i) Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG (green color; ab150077), ii) Alexa Flour 647 goat anti-mouse IgG (red color; ab150115), and iii) donkey anti-rabbit IgG (red color; ab150077) (Abcam). Then, the cover glass was washed 3 times and stained with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole), a bluefluorescent DNA stain (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) for 10 min at room temperature, and was increased fluorophore photostability by prolong antifade mountant (Prolong, Life Technologies), respectively. The fluorescent images were visualized with ZEISS LSM 800 Airyscan confocal laser scanning microscope at 630× magnification (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

#### 3.2 PMA or LPS induces apoptosis and purification

#### 3.2.1 Neutrophil proliferation and purification

To assess the apoptosis and NETosis susceptibility between Fcgr2b-/- and WT neutrophils using the *in vitro* experiment, neutrophils were derived from peritoneum using a published protocol (56). Briefly, 1 mL of 3% thioglycolate was intraperitoneal administered in 8-week-old mice. At 3 h administration, mice were sacrificed under isoflurane anesthesia, and peritoneal cavity was thoroughly collected and washed with ice-cold phosphate buffer solution (PBS) before centrifugation at 1800 rpm, 4°C for 5 min to separate the PMN cells, which was evaluated by Wright's-stains (54). Only the preparation with more than 90% neutrophils was further used for the experiments. Neutrophils at a concentration of  $2 \times 10^5$  cells/mL were cultured in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS. Only the preparation with more than 90% of neutrophils was further used for the experiments.

# จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

#### 3.2.2 PMA or LPS-stimulated apoptosis and NETosis

Each condition of  $2 \times 10^5$  neutrophils was added with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA; Sigma-Aldrich), a NETs stimulator or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (*Escherichia coli* 026: B6; Sigma-Aldrich) at a final concentration of 25 and 100 ng/mL, respectively, in the 24-well plate containing cover glass-coated poly- L-lysine, and incubated at the same condition for 2 h. Supernatants were stored at -80°C until used for cytokine measurement by ELISA (Invitrogen) and were quantified for dsDNA by Picogreen assay kit (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol as described above. NETosis or apoptosis-induced neutrophils were detected the cell morphology using fluorescent imaging as described above, and those by flow cytometry.

#### 3.2.3 Flow cytometry

Neutrophils were suspended in 1X PBS at a concentration of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/mL, stained for apoptosis/ necrosis by 5 µL per reaction of annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide (PI) (BD Biosciences), respectively. Then, the samples were washed with FACS flow buffer, 1X PBS supplemented with 1% (v/v) FBS, and 0.05% NaN<sub>3</sub>, and processed by the BD LSR II Flow Cytometry (BD Biosciences) using the FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR, USA). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) was determined by DHE (Dihydroethidium) assay (ab236206; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

# จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย Cuu al onecopy Huivepsity

#### 4. The AKI characterization on internal mouse organs

#### 4.1 Histological analysis

Several tissues after renal ischemic reperfusion injury were fixed overnight in 10% neutral buffered formalin, dehydrated, and embedded in paraffin. Tissue was sectioned at 4  $\mu$ m and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) according to the standard protocols. Each individual was visualized using an inverted microscope (Olympus, Inc., Japan) at 200× magnification in 10 randomly selected fields (32-34).

Renal injury was defined as tubular epithelial swelling, loss of brush border, vacuolar degeneration, necrotic tubules, cast formation, and desquamation using the following score in Table 2, whereas lung injury was determined by alveolar hemorrhage, alveolar congestion, neutrophil infiltration, and alveolar wall thickness with the following score in Table 2.

		1000	1120			
Organ	Score					
	0	1	2	3	4	
Kidney	area of damage < 5%	area of damage 5% –10%	area of damage 10% – 25%	area of damage 25% – 50%	area of damage > 50%	
Lung	no injury in the observed field	injury up to 25%	injury up to 50%	injury up to 75%	injury in the entire field	

**Table 2** Injury score using histological analysis

**JHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

### 4.2 Immunofluorescent analysis

Internal organs containing kidney, liver, lung, and heart were prepared in Tissue-Tek O.C.T compound (Sakura Finetek, CA, USA), sliced at 5  $\mu$ m, and stained with several fluorescent-tagged mouse antibodies to elucidate the characteristics of AKI using immunofluorescence as the following.

Antibody (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) against neutrophil elastase (NE; ab68672), myeloperoxidase (MPO; ab25989) with secondary antibodies; goat anti-rabbit IgG (ab150077, green color), and goat anti-mouse IgG (ab150115, red color) and DAPI (Sigma Aldrich) were used for NETs visualization.

Cell apoptosis

The anti-Cleaved Caspase 3 (Asp175, 9661S; Cell Signaling Technology, Boston, MA, USA) with secondary antibody against goat anti-rabbit IgG (ab150077; Abcam) and DAPI (Sigma Aldrich) were used to identify cell apoptosis.

Immune complex deposition

#### หาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

The immunoglobulin deposition was detected using goat anti-mouse IgG (ab150113, green color; Abcam). After immunofluorescent staining, the stained samples were mounted by prolong antifade mountant (Prolong, Life Technologies) to increase the fluorophore photostability. The fluorescent images were analyzed with ZEISS LSM 800 Airyscan CLSM (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany) at 630× magnification as described above.

#### 5. Expression of inflammatory cytokines

The various interesting genes in mouse tissues and neutrophils after renal ischemic reperfusion injury, and apoptosis or NETosis-induced neutrophils containing injury-associated inflammatory cytokines (*TNF-a*, *IL-6*, *and IL-10*) and NETs including peptidyl arginine deiminase 4 (*PAD4*) and *IL-1* $\beta$  were quantified the overexpression using real time-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR).

# 5.1 Sample preparation

Each internal organs including kidney, lung, liver, and heart were weighted at 20 mg and homogenized by a rotor-stator homogenizer in 350  $\mu$ L of FARB buffer (Favorgen, Taiwan) supplemented with 3.5  $\mu$ L of  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol. For cultivated neutrophils at the concentration of 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL were collected by centrifugation at 1800 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. After that, 350  $\mu$ L of FARB buffer (Favorgen) and 3.5  $\mu$ L of  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol were added into each condition and vortexed to resuspend the cells completely. All samples were incubated at room temperature for 5 min and then transferred the sample mixture to the filter column and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 min. Subsequently, 1 volume of 70% RNase-free ethanol was added into the clarified supernatant in a new microcentrifuge tube and mixed well by vortexing.

#### 5.2 RNA extraction

Total RNA was extracted using the FavorPrep<sup>TM</sup> Tissue Total RNA Mini kit (Favorgen, Taiwan) following the manufacturer instructions. After the sample preparation, the ethanol-added sample mixture was put into the FARB Mini column, centrifuged for 1 min at 13,000 rpm at 4°C, and discarded the flow through, respectively. The FARB Mini column were cleaned with 500 µL of wash buffer 1, centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 min at 4°C, and discarded the flow through, respectively. Then, 750 µL of wash buffer 2 was put into the FARB Mini column, centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 min at 4°C, and discarded the flow through, respectively. Then, 750 µL of wash buffer 2 was put into the FARB Mini column, centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 min at 4°C, and discarded the flow through, respectively. To completely remove the residual wash buffer, the FARB Mini column was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 3 min at 4°C. The FARB Mini column was placed onto an elution tube, added 30 µL of RNase-free ddH<sub>2</sub>O to the membrane, and incubated for 1 min at room temperature before centrifuging at 13,000 rpm for 1 min to elute RNA. The purity of extracted RNA was measured at a wavelength of 260 and 280 nm using a Nanodrop 100 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). The RNA was kept at -80°C until analysis.

#### 5.3 cDNA synthesis

The contamination of genomic DNA was conducted in 20  $\mu$ L of reaction mixture containing 10  $\mu$ L of total RNA, 2  $\mu$ L of 10X Reaction Buffer with MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2  $\mu$ L of 1 U of DNase I with RNase-free, and 6  $\mu$ L of RNase-free water. After that, the reaction mixture was incubated at 37°C for 45 min. Then, two microliters of 50 mM EDTA were added and incubated at 65°C for 10 min to stop the enzyme reaction. A High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (Thermo Scientific) was used for reverse transcription of whole RNAs as follows. The cDNA synthesis was performed in 20  $\mu$ L of reaction mixture is composed of 10  $\mu$ L of 100 ng of the total RNA, 3.2  $\mu$ L of sterile milliq water, 2  $\mu$ L of 10X RT buffer, 2  $\mu$ L of RT Random primers, 1  $\mu$ L of RNase inhibitor, 0.8  $\mu$ L of 25X dNTP mix, and 1  $\mu$ L of MultiScribe reverse transcriptase. Then, the reaction mixture was incubated at 25°C for 5 min, followed by 37°C for 120 min, and 85°C for 5 min, respectively. The cDNA solution was stored at -20°C.

5.4 Quantitative real-time PCR

The expressed genes were performed with quantitative real-time PCR by QuantStudio 6 Flex Real-time PCR System (Thermo Scientific) with 10  $\mu$ L of mixture containing 1  $\mu$ L of nuclease-free water, 5  $\mu$ L of 2X SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green PCR master mix (Applied Biosystems), 0.2  $\mu$ L of 10  $\mu$ M of each primer, and 2  $\mu$ L of 100 ng of cDNA template. The experiment was carried out in triplicate with the following cycling parameter as follows; the initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15 sec, annealing and extension at 60°C for 1 min. The results were demonstrated using the relative quantitation of the comparative threshold (delta-delta Ct) method (2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct</sup>) as normalized by  $\beta$ -actin (an endogenous housekeeping gene). The list of primers is shown in Table 3.

Primer	Sequence		
Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ( <i>TNF-<math>\alpha</math></i> )	Forward	5'-CCTCACACTCAGATCATCTTCTC-3'	
	Reverse	5'-AGATCCATGCCGTTGGCCAG-3'	
Interleukin-6 (IL-6)	Forward	5′-TACCACTTCACAAGTCGGAGGC-3′	
	Reverse	5'-CTGCAAGTGCATCATCGTTGTTC-3'	
Interleukin-10 (IL-10)	Forward	5'-GCTCTTACTGACTGGCATGAG-3'	
	Reverse	5'-CGCAGCTCTAGGAGCATGTG-3'	
Peptidyl arginine deiminase	Forward	5'-ACAGGTGAAAGCAGCCAGC-3'	
(PAD4)	Reverse	5'-AGTGATGTAGATCAGGGCTTGG-3'	
Interleukin-1 $\beta$ ( <i>IL-1</i> $\beta$ )	Forward	5'-GAAATGCCACCTTTTGACAGTG-3'	
จุฬาล• <b>C</b>	Reverse	5'-TGGATGCTCTCATCAGGACAG-3'	
β-actin	Forward	5'-CGGTTCCGATGCCCTGAGGCTCTT-3'	
	Reverse	5'-CGTCACACTTCATGATGGAATTGA-3'	

# Table 3 The primers were used in the investigation

#### 6. Statistical analysis

Statistical differences among groups were examined using the unpaired Student's t-test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's comparison test for the analysis of experiments with two groups or more than two groups, respectively, all of which are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error (SE). Statistical comparisons of data were conducted by paired Student's t-test in the experiment condition of before and after treatment. SPSS 11.5 software (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) was used for all statistical analyses.



#### **CHAPTER V**

#### RESULTS

# 1. The AKI characteristics were accelerated after renal ischemia reperfusion of Fcgr2b-/- lupus prone mice

Blood serum, polymorphonuclear cells, and internal organs, as well as NETs production-associated genes have been evaluated in Fcgr2b-/- lupus prone mice after renal ischemia reperfusion injury.

#### 1.1 Detection of AKI-represented blood serum

At the onset of renal damage, the reperfused 8-week-old Fcgr2b-/- mice with asymptomatic lupus prone state, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), serum creatinine (Scr), and anti-dsDNA have no AKI and lupus characteristics in 8-week-old Fcgr2b-/- mice (Figure 7A and B). The highest concentration of BUN and Scr of Fcgr2b-/- mice were performed at 24 h and remained elevated 120 h after I/R, but Scr had retrieved to baseline similar to WT mice. In addition, anti-dsDNA, which acted as a key lupus auto-antibody, highly enhanced at 120 h indicating that renal I/R modulates lupus activity (Figure 7C). To evaluate the inflammatory after renal injury, alanine transaminase (ALT) presented the highest activity at 24 h which is similar to serum IL-1 $\beta$  and serum dsDNA, whereas serum TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 continue expressed at 72 to 120 h (Figure 7D-H). These results demonstrated that the systemic inflammation in

fcgr2b -/- mice following AKI injury might be more severe than WT mice at 120 h after I/R.



**Figure 7** The AKI characterization after renal ischemia reperfusion. A; blood urea nitrogen, B; serum creatinine, C; serum anti-dsDNA, D; alanine transaminase, E; serum TNF- $\alpha$ , F; serum IL-6, G; serum IL-1 $\beta$ , and H; serum dsDNA.

#### **1.2 Determination of NET-performing neutrophils**

Prominent NETs in Fcgr2b-/- mice at 24 h after I/R compared to WT mice, as indicated by nuclear morphology (DAPI), which was co-stained with myelo-peroxidase (MPO) and neutrophil elastase (NE), as well as citrullinated histone 3 (CitH3) staining (Figure 8A-C) was demonstrated. These data indicated that renal I/R injury in Fcgr2b-/- mice induced NETs formation at 24 h.





**Figure 8** Neutrophils of Fcgr2b-/- and WT mice performed NET formation at 24 h after renal I/R, which are detectable by CLSM using DAPI (A), MPO and NE (B), and CitH3 (C) staining.

# **1.3** Analysis of the injury of internal organs

Figure 9 showed the infiltration of mononuclear cells in kidney, liver, and lung indicating that the injuries of kidney and liver occurred after 120 h I/R have significantly the differentiation between Fcgr2b-/- and WT mice, whereas lung presented the organ damage over 72 to 120 h of renal I/R injury. The damage of heart after 120 h I/R has no the differentiation (data not shown). As a result, the injuries of internal organs indicated that Fcgr2b -/- mice with AKI injury might be more severe than WT mice at 72 to 120 h after I/R depending on the organ.



**Figure 9** The injurious histological score of kidney (A) and lung (B), as well as the photographs of kidney and lung (C) with hematoxylin and eosin staining.

# จุหาลงกรณํมหาวิทยาลัย

In parallel, the production of NETs on kidney, lung, liver, and heart were visualized by immunofluorescent staining using MPO and NE as the biomarker demonstrated that Fcgr2b-/- mice showed fluorescent score was higher than WT mice after 24 h I/R injury (Figure 10 A and B). These results implied that NETs formation in Fcgr2b-/- mice following I/R injury might be an auto-antigens, which have the effect on lupus exacerbation. Meanwhile, the absence of NETs in liver and heart after 24 h I/R injury suggested that the renal I/R induced remote organ injury via non-NETs inflammatory pathways (Figure 10 C and D).



**Figure 10** NET formation on the damageable kidney (A), lung (B) liver (C), and heart (D) after 24 h of renal I/R injury.

Because of the NETs that occurred in kidney and lung, these organs were evaluated for apoptosis and immunoglobulin deposition, Fcgr2b-/- mice had high apoptotic cells in the kidney and lung than those of WT mice at 24 h renal I/R injury, and the detected Caspase 3 of lung decreased at 120 h of renal I/R injury (Figure 11A and C). In addition, cell apoptosis was exclusively found only in Fcgr2b-/- mice (Figure 11A). These data suggested that Fcgr2b-/- mice showed significantly more cell damage (apoptosis and NETosis) than WT mice. Although renal IgG deposition was seen in both mouse strains at 120 h of I/R injury, the deposition in Fcgr2b-/- mice were more apparent when compared with WT mice (Figure 11B). Indeed, IgG deposition was observed in WT mice as part of the wound healing process. Therefore, IgG deposition was much higher in Fcgr2b-/- mice than WT mice, suggesting that ischemia-induced inflammation causes enhanced antibody production in lupus mice (Figure 11B and D). These data implied that renal I/R injury through the exacerbated NETs and apoptosis affected to lupus disease aggravation and autoantibody production.

จุฬาลงกรณีมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



**Figure 11** Renal ischemia reperfusion (I/R) induced more prominent apoptosis at 24 h and induced immunoglobulin G (IgG) deposition at 120 h in renal and lung of lupus prone mice.

# 1.4 Evaluation of the overexpression of apoptosis or NETosis-induced neutrophil and neutrophil extracellular trap genes on Fcgr2b-/- and WT neutrophils and internal organs

Parameters of NETs, including *peptidyl arginine deiminase 4 (PAD4)* and *IL* $l\beta$  genes, (Figure 12A and B) demonstrated the more prominent NETs in Fcgr2b-/neutrophils at 24 h after I/R when compared to WT neutrophils, which associated with the increased serum dsDNA (Figure 7H). These data indicated that renal I/R injury in Fcgr2b-/- mice induced NETs formation at 24 h. Furthermore, NETs formationassociated genes were performed in the internal organs after I/R, which demonstrated that Fcgr2b-/- mice had the enhanced expression levels of *PAD4* and *IL-1\beta* in kidney and lung, and these of levels elevated again after 120 h (Figure 12C and D).





**Figure 12** The gene expression of *PAD4* (A) and *IL-1* $\beta$  (B) was detected in blood neutrophils and the differentiation of *PAD4* (C) and *IL-1* $\beta$  (D) overexpression in each internal organ.

Because of local organ inflammation (*TNF-a*, *IL-6*, and *IL-10* gene expression) following I/R injury, the expression of *TNF-a*, *IL-6*, and *IL-10* genes were only found to be high in the kidney of Fcgr2b-/- and WT mice at 24 h after I/R, in contrast to lung, liver, and heart. On the other hand, Fcgr2b-/- mice showed higher cytokine expression than WT mice at 120 h after renal I/R (Figure 13A-L). These results implied that Fcgr2b-/- mice had the higher responses toward I/R damage than WT mice and induced more severe remote organs inflammation.



**Figure 13** The expression of inflammatory cytokine-related genes (*TNF-\alpha*, *IL-6*, and *IL-10*) of kidney (A-C), lung (D-F), liver (G-I), and heart (J-L) in Fcgr2b-/- and WT mice with ischemia reperfusion injury are demonstrated.

# 2. Investigation of the susceptibility of NET formation, inflammatory activation, and apoptosis on Fcgr2b-/- neutrophils

PMA and LPS are well-known for study the stimulation of immune pathway, especially cell apoptosis and NET formation. Because Fcgr2b-/- neutrophils might be more susceptible to apoptosis and NETosis than WT cells (the loss of inhibitory signaling), PMA and LPS are used as the representative stimulators. At 4 h of the stimulation with PMA or LPS, NETosis occurred in neutrophils from both mouse strains which were detectable with DAPI nucleus morphology and co-staining of MPO and NE. PMA similarly induced NETs in neutrophils of both mouse strains at 4 h post-stimulation, while LPS inducing higher NETs in Fcgr2b-/- than WT cells (Figure 14A and B), which were consistent with the amount of dsDNA and the expression of PAD4 gene as well as the production of prominent pro-inflammatory cytokine production (TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) (Figure 14C-G).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



**Figure 14** NET formation in Fcgr2b-/- or WT neutrophils after activation by PMA or LPS with several NET parameters are visualized by CLSM (A-B), the amount of

several NET parameters in Fcgr2b-/- or WT neutrophils after activation by PMA or LPS are demonstrated.

In addition, PMA or LPS-stimulated neutrophils were analyzed the apoptosis, necrosis, and the production of reactive oxygen species indicating that Fcgr2b-/stimulated neutrophils demonstrated more prominent apoptosis (and necrosis) than WT cells at 2 h of the stimulation, accompanying with the increased production of ROS (Dihydroethidium; DHE) (Figure 15A-C). Furthermore, LPS induced more severe necrosis with lower ROS in Fcgr2b-/- neutrophils when compared with PMA (Figure 15B and C). These results demonstrated that the stimulated cells especially Fcgr2b-/- neutrophils were susceptible to apoptosis at 4 h of post-stimulation by PMA and LPS.



Figure 15 The validation of apoptosis (A), necrosis (B), and the production of reactive oxygen species (C) of PMA or LPS-activated neutrophils of lupus prone mice.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

#### **CHAPTER VI**

#### DISCUSSION

Acute kidney injury or AKI is one of the important factors that decrease the function of kidney and lead to internal organ injury as well as stimulate the series of disease into chronic phase of injury. Several parameters in AKI, including the enhanced inflammatory cytokines, renal cell apoptosis or necrosis, and the increased responsibility of leukocytes facilitate chronic kidney disease (CKD). The deficient Fcgr2b (Fcgr2b-/-) mouse model was used as a representative of lupus, using the NETs stimulators (PMA and LPS). While PMA is a well-known direct NETs inducer, LPS is an indirect NETs stimulator with a potent inflammatory property.

The increase in BUN, Scr, and anti-dsDNA in 8-week-old Fcgr2b-/- mice, the asymptomatic lupus prone state without AKI and lupus characteristics, after I/R injury demonstrates that renal I/R could facilitate lupus disease activity. In addition, the systemic inflammatory including IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and serum dsDNA were remained increased when compared with WT mice, indicating that the inflammatory processes after renal ischemia reperfusion in 8-week-old Fcgr2b-/- mice might be more severe than WT mice. Furthermore, Fcgr2b-/- and WT mice developed the characteristics of NETs on peripheral blood neutrophils and in various internal organs after 24 h of renal I/R injury. Despite the damage of kidneys and remote organs is similar in both mouse strains, Fcgr2b-/- mice produced more NETs in peripheral blood and internal organs, especially kidney and lung, compared to WT mice,

indicating that Fcgr2b-/- mice was more sensitive to the organ injury and led to propound NET formation within 24 h after renal I/R injury (137, 138). Consequently, these evidences demonstrated that the inflammatory hyper-responsiveness due to the loss of Fcgr2b receptor in asymptomatic lupus mice exacerbate lupus activity. Perhaps, the loss of inhibitory Fcgr2b-/- enhances activating FcgRs, which then cross-talks with TLR4 (139), an innate immune receptor that recognizes ischemia-induced damage associated molecular pattern (DAMPs), in Fcgr2b-/- mice results in the higher inflammation in Fcgr2b-/- mice than WT mice (140-142). On the contrary, the hepatic and cardiac damage caused by renal injury after 24 h I/R might not be linked to NETs formation because very less NETs were detected in these organs at 24 h after I/R.

The elevated anti-dsDNA induces immune complexes (ICs) that deposit in several organ, including glomeruli. On the other hand, the renal cell apoptosis at 120 h after I/R injury of Fcgr2b-/- mice (but not in WT), indicating that an impact of the loss of tolerance in lupus (23). Hence, the loss of inhibitory Fcgr2b with renal I/R facilitated NET formation (143) and induced cell apoptosis (144) through the possible enhanced presentation of self-antigens, auto-antibody production and IC deposition(145). The renal damage in lupus prone mice induced NETs at 24 h after I/R that causes accumulation of renal IC at 120 h after I/R injury without NETs (undetectable renal MPO and NE co-staining). The influences of acute kidney injury as a lupus aggravation factor were explained through I/R induced NETs formation at 24 h post-I/R and NETs enhanced self-antigen presentation, facilitated anti-dsDNA production and caused lupus at 120 h post-I/R. To support the increased anti-dsDNA production at 5 days after I/R injury, flow cytometry analysis of spleen were further analyzed. Accordingly, the results indicated that the inducible anti-dsDNA after 5

days of renal I/R injury was associated with the non-specific activation of autoreactive B cells post renal I/R that was prominent in Fcgr2b-/- mice. An immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) and Fcgr2b receptors on B cells play a dominant role for negative feedback mechanism of activation, proliferation, antigen internalization, and antibody production, as well as induce cell apoptosis in the previous publication (10). Therefore, the depletion of Fcgr2b function extensively control antibody secretion and apoptosis, as well as led to antibody-driven diseases e.g., lupus-like diseases with more autoreactive germinal center B-cell clones (146). The possible processes that profound I/R-induced NETs and apoptosis in Fcgr2b-/-mice lead to an aggravation of lupus activity at 120 h are i) renal necrosis causes NETs (138), ii) prominent NETs promoting apoptosis, a well-known lupus b exacerbating factor (144), iii) both NETs and apoptosis increase an auto-antibody production by enhancing self-antigen presentation (147), and iv) inflammation exacerbates lupus activity (145). Nonetheless, increased self-antigen exposure via any cell death mechanisms may aggravate lupus disease activity.

#### กลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

PMA and LPS are generally associated to NET formation and release of ROS, which have been verified in Fcgr2b-/- neutrophil cells, and NETosis after PMA activation was more prominent that LPS which induced NETs through the proinflammatory cytokines. Similarly, proteomic analysis of NETs demonstrated that the different inducers stimulated NET formation with different mechanisms (148). In addition, ROS activity was correlated with apoptotic assay because ROS are generated via the NADPH oxidase, which is necessary for phosphatidylserine exposure during PMA and LPS-induced cell death (149, 150). As a result, ROS has several important roles in NETs, including cell signaling as well as regulation of cell survival and death pathway. The disruption of these pathways was expected to have a significant clinical implication for oxidative stress-associated diseases such as cancer, ischemia-reperfusion injury, and diabetes (151).

This study presents the impact of AKI characteristics following I/R damage, the NET formation, and apoptosis in several organs between Fcgr2b deficient and wild type mice, as well as compares characteristics of Fcgr2b-/- and wild type neutrophils after stimulation with PMA and LPS. In summary, AKI increased lupus activity aggravation through renal I/R-induced significant NETs in kidney and led to inflammatory activation in several organs of Fcgr2b-/- mice. Due to the loss of inhibitory signaling of Fcgr2b receptor on neutrophils, NETs significantly enhanced dsDNA in Fcgr2b-/- mice with I/R injury and also induced several systemic inflammations, anti-dsDNA, as well as immune complex between dsDNA with antidsDNA in several organs. These occurrences suggesting that inhibition of NET formation might be beneficial and should be investigated in lupus patients with AKI, as well as exploration of a new strategy for treatment in lupus patients. In addition, this thesis is part of journal acute kidney injury induced lupus exacerbation through the enhanced neutrophil extracellular traps (and apoptosis) in Fcgr2b deficient lupus mice with renal ischemia reperfusion injury (152).
## REFERENCES

1. Srisawat N, Kulvichit W, Mahamitra N, Hurst C, Praditpornsilpa K, Lumlertgul N, et al. The epidemiology and characteristics of acute kidney injury in the Southeast Asia intensive care unit: a prospective multicentre study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2020;35(10):1729-38.

2. Leelahavanichkul A, Somparn P, Panich T, Chancharoenthana W, Wongphom J, Pisitkun T, et al. Serum miRNA-122 in acute liver injury induced by kidney injury and sepsis in CD-1 mouse models. Hepatol Res. 2015;45(13):1341-52.

3. Sukkummee W, Jittisak P, Wonganan P, Wittayalertpanya S, Chariyavilaskul P, Leelahavanichkul A. The prominent impairment of liver/intestinal cytochrome P450 and intestinal drug transporters in sepsis-induced acute kidney injury over acute and chronic renal ischemia, a mouse model comparison. Ren Fail. 2019;41(1):314-25.

4. Chapter 12: Lupus nephritis. Kidney Int Suppl (2011). 2012;2(2):221-32.

5. Coca SG, Singanamala S, Parikh CR. Chronic kidney disease after acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Kidney Int. 2012;81(5):442-8.

6. Pongsittisak W, Phonsawang K, Jaturapisanukul S, Prommool S, Kurathong S. Acute Kidney Injury Outcomes of Elderly and Nonelderly Patients in the Medical Intensive Care Unit of a University Hospital in a Developing Country. Crit Care Res Pract. 2020;2020:2391683.

7. Zhang R, Wang T, Yin Q, Zhang J, Li L, Guo R, et al. FcgRIII Deficiency and FcgRIIb Defeciency Promote Renal Injury in Diabetic Mice. Biomed Res Int. 2019;2019:3514574.

8. Malek M, Nematbakhsh M. Renal ischemia/reperfusion injury; from pathophysiology to treatment. J Renal Inj Prev. 2015;4(2):20-7.

9. Sharfuddin AA, Molitoris BA. Pathophysiology of ischemic acute kidney injury. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2011;7(4):189-200.

10. Verbeek JS, Hirose S, Nishimura H. The Complex Association of FcγRIIb With Autoimmune Susceptibility. Front Immunol. 2019;10:2061.

11. Espéli M, Smith KG, Clatworthy MR. FcγRIIB and autoimmunity. Immunol Rev. 2016;269(1):194-211.

12. Bolland S, Ravetch JV. Spontaneous autoimmune disease in Fc(gamma)RIIBdeficient mice results from strain-specific epistasis. Immunity. 2000;13(2):277-85.

13. Clatworthy MR, Willcocks L, Urban B, Langhorne J, Williams TN, Peshu N, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus-associated defects in the inhibitory receptor FcgammaRIIb reduce susceptibility to malaria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(17):7169-74.

14. Crispín JC, Hedrich CM, Tsokos GC. Gene-function studies in systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2013;9(8):476-84.

15. Chu ZT, Tsuchiya N, Kyogoku C, Ohashi J, Qian YP, Xu SB, et al. Association of Fcgamma receptor IIb polymorphism with susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus in Chinese: a common susceptibility gene in the Asian populations. Tissue Antigens. 2004;63(1):21-7.

16. Issara-Amphorn J, Surawut S, Worasilchai N, Thim-Uam A, Finkelman M, Chindamporn A, et al. The Synergy of Endotoxin and  $(1\rightarrow 3)$ - $\beta$ -D-Glucan, from Gut Translocation, Worsens Sepsis Severity in a Lupus Model of Fc Gamma Receptor IIb-Deficient Mice. J Innate Immun. 2018;10(3):189-201.

17. Ondee T, Surawut S, Taratummarat S, Hirankarn N, Palaga T, Pisitkun P, et al. Fc Gamma Receptor IIB Deficient Mice: A Lupus Model with Increased Endotoxin Tolerance-Related Sepsis Susceptibility. Shock. 2017;47(6):743-52.

18. Bai Y, Tong Y, Liu Y, Hu H. Self-dsDNA in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Exp Immunol. 2018;191(1):1-10.

19. Jin B, Sun T, Yu XH, Liu CQ, Yang YX, Lu P, et al. Immunomodulatory effects of dsRNA and its potential as vaccine adjuvant. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010;2010:690438.

20. Kobiyama K, Jounai N, Aoshi T, Tozuka M, Takeshita F, Coban C, et al. Innate Immune Signaling by, and Genetic Adjuvants for DNA Vaccination. Vaccines (Basel). 2013;1(3):278-92.

21. Issara-Amphorn J, Chancharoenthana W, Visitchanakun P, Leelahavanichkul A. Syk Inhibitor Attenuates Polymicrobial Sepsis in FcgRIIb-Deficient Lupus Mouse Model, the Impact of Lupus Characteristics in Sepsis. J Innate Immun. 2020;12(6):461-79.

22. Issara-Amphorn J, Somboonna N, Pisitkun P, Hirankarn N, Leelahavanichkul A. Syk inhibitor attenuates inflammation in lupus mice from FcgRIIb deficiency but not in pristane induction: the influence of lupus pathogenesis on the therapeutic effect. Lupus. 2020;29(10):1248-62.

23. Pieterse E, van der Vlag J. Breaking immunological tolerance in systemic lupus erythematosus. Front Immunol. 2014;5:164.

24. Kuechle MK, Elkon KB. Shining light on lupus and UV. Arthritis Res Ther. 2007;9(1):101.

25. Kurts C, Panzer U, Anders HJ, Rees AJ. The immune system and kidney disease: basic concepts and clinical implications. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(10):738-53.

26. Mulay SR, Linkermann A, Anders HJ. Necroinflammation in Kidney Disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27(1):27-39.

27. Kundert F, Platen L, Iwakura T, Zhao Z, Marschner JA, Anders HJ. Immune mechanisms in the different phases of acute tubular necrosis. Kidney Res Clin Pract. 2018;37(3):185-96.

28. Jorch SK, Kubes P. An emerging role for neutrophil extracellular traps in noninfectious disease. Nat Med. 2017;23(3):279-87.

29. Liu J, Dong Z. Neutrophil extracellular traps in ischemic AKI: new way to kill. Kidney Int. 2018;93:303-305. Kidney Int. 2018;93(4):1019.

30. Yu Y, Su K. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. J Clin Cell Immunol. 2013;4.

31. Yang L. Acute Kidney Injury in Asia. Kidney Dis (Basel). 2016;2(3):95-102.

32. Murugan R, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury: what's the prognosis? Nat Rev Nephrol. 2011;7(4):209-17.

33. Kellum JA LN, Aspelin P, Barsoum RS, Burdmann EA, Goldstein SL, et al. Kidney disease: Improving global outcomes (KDIGO) acute kidney injury work group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. Kidney International Supplements. 2012;2(1):1-138.

34. Thadhani R, Pascual M, Bonventre JV. Acute renal failure. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(22):1448-60.

35. Basile DP, Anderson MD, Sutton TA. Pathophysiology of acute kidney injury.

Compr Physiol. 2012;2(2):1303-53.

36. Rahman M, Shad F, Smith MC. Acute kidney injury: a guide to diagnosis and management. Am Fam Physician. 2012;86(7):631-9.

37. Xu X, Nie S, Liu Z, Chen C, Xu G, Zha Y, et al. Epidemiology and Clinical Correlates of AKI in Chinese Hospitalized Adults. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;10(9):1510-8.

38. Hoste EAJ, Kellum JA, Selby NM, Zarbock A, Palevsky PM, Bagshaw SM, et al. Global epidemiology and outcomes of acute kidney injury. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2018;14(10):607-25.

39. Basile DP. The endothelial cell in ischemic acute kidney injury: implications for acute and chronic function. Kidney Int. 2007;72(2):151-6.

40. Briggs JD, Kennedy AC, Young LN, Luke RG, Gray M. Renal function after acute tubular necrosis. Br Med J. 1967;3(5564):513-6.

41. Blantz RC, Deng A, Miracle CM, Thomson SC. Regulation of kidney function and metabolism: a question of supply and demand. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc. 2007;118:23-43.

42. Molitoris BA, Sutton TA. Endothelial injury and dysfunction: role in the extension phase of acute renal failure. Kidney Int. 2004;66(2):496-9.

43. Heyman SN, Lieberthal W, Rogiers P, Bonventre JV. Animal models of acute tubular necrosis. Current Opinion in Critical Care. 2002;8(6):526-34.

44. Tseng WC, Lee PY, Tsai MT, Chang FP, Chen NJ, Chien CT, et al. Hypoxic mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate acute kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury via enhancing renal tubular autophagy. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2021;12(1):367.

45. Awad AS, Rouse M, Huang L, Vergis AL, Reutershan J, Cathro HP, et al. Compartmentalization of neutrophils in the kidney and lung following acute ischemic kidney injury. Kidney Int. 2009;75(7):689-98.

46. Karlberg L, Norlén BJ, Ojteg G, Wolgast M. Impaired medullary circulation in postischemic acute renal failure. Acta Physiol Scand. 1983;118(1):11-7.

47. Tsourouktsoglou TD, Warnatsch A, Ioannou M, Hoving D, Wang Q, Papayannopoulos V. Histones, DNA, and Citrullination Promote Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Inflammation by Regulating the Localization and Activation of TLR4. Cell Rep. 2020;31(5):107602.

48. Jang HR, Rabb H. The innate immune response in ischemic acute kidney injury. Clin Immunol. 2009;130(1):41-50.

49. Denecke C, Tullius SG. Innate and adaptive immune responses subsequent to ischemia-reperfusion injury in the kidney. Prog Urol. 2014;24 Suppl 1:S13-9.

50. Leventhal JS, Schröppel B. Toll-like receptors in transplantation: sensing and reacting to injury. Kidney Int. 2012;81(9):826-32.

51. Gluba A, Banach M, Hannam S, Mikhailidis DP, Sakowicz A, Rysz J. The role of Toll-like receptors in renal diseases. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2010;6(4):224-35.

52. Robson MG. Toll-like receptors and renal disease. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2009;113(1):e1-7.

53. Huang H, Evankovich J, Yan W, Nace G, Zhang L, Ross M, et al. Endogenous histones function as alarmins in sterile inflammatory liver injury through Toll-like receptor 9 in mice. Hepatology. 2011;54(3):999-1008.

54. Xie L, Liu S, Cheng J, Wang L, Liu J, Gong J. Exogenous administration of mitochondrial DNA promotes ischemia reperfusion injury via TLR9-p38 MAPK

pathway. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol. 2017;89:148-54.

55. Sun S, Duan Z, Wang X, Chu C, Yang C, Chen F, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps impair intestinal barrier functions in sepsis by regulating TLR9-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway. Cell Death Dis. 2021;12(6):606.

56. Han SJ, Lee HT. Mechanisms and therapeutic targets of ischemic acute kidney injury. Kidney Res Clin Pract. 2019;38(4):427-40.

57. Han SJ, Li H, Kim M, Shlomchik MJ, Lee HT. Kidney Proximal Tubular TLR9 Exacerbates Ischemic Acute Kidney Injury. J Immunol. 2018;201(3):1073-85.

58. Bonventre JV, Yang L. Cellular pathophysiology of ischemic acute kidney injury. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(11):4210-21.

59. Bosch X, Poch E, Grau JM. Rhabdomyolysis and acute kidney injury. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(1):62-72.

60. McSweeney KR, Gadanec LK, Qaradakhi T, Ali BA, Zulli A, Apostolopoulos V. Mechanisms of Cisplatin-Induced Acute Kidney Injury: Pathological Mechanisms, Pharmacological Interventions, and Genetic Mitigations. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(7).

61. Zuk A, Bonventre JV. Acute Kidney Injury. Annu Rev Med. 2016;67:293-307.

62. Ullah MM, Basile DP. Role of Renal Hypoxia in the Progression From Acute Kidney Injury to Chronic Kidney Disease. Semin Nephrol. 2019;39(6):567-80.

63. Yan P, Duan XJ, Liu Y, Wu X, Zhang NY, Yuan F, et al. Acute kidney disease in hospitalized acute kidney injury patients. PeerJ. 2021;9:e11400.

64. Fleischmann C, Scherag A, Adhikari NK, Hartog CS, Tsaganos T, Schlattmann P, et al. Assessment of Global Incidence and Mortality of Hospital-treated Sepsis.

Current Estimates and Limitations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193(3):259-72.
65. Havasi A, Borkan SC. Apoptosis and acute kidney injury. Kidney Int.

2011;80(1):29-40.

66. Dejager L, Pinheiro I, Dejonckheere E, Libert C. Cecal ligation and puncture: the gold standard model for polymicrobial sepsis? Trends Microbiol. 2011;19(4):198-208.

67. Toscano MG, Ganea D, Gamero AM. Cecal ligation puncture procedure. J Vis Exp. 2011(51).

68. Holly MK, Dear JW, Hu X, Schechter AN, Gladwin MT, Hewitt SM, et al. Biomarker and drug-target discovery using proteomics in a new rat model of sepsisinduced acute renal failure. Kidney Int. 2006;70(3):496-506.

69. Drewry AM, Samra N, Skrupky LP, Fuller BM, Compton SM, Hotchkiss RS. Persistent lymphopenia after diagnosis of sepsis predicts mortality. Shock. 2014;42(5):383-91.

70. Remick DG, Ward PA. Evaluation of endotoxin models for the study of sepsis. Shock. 2005;24 Suppl 1:7-11.

71. Kuhlmann MK, Shahmir E, Maasarani E, Akhtar S, Thevanayagam V, Vadgama JV, et al. New experimental model of acute renal failure and sepsis in rats. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1994;18(6):477-85.

72. Colón DF, Wanderley CW, Franchin M, Silva CM, Hiroki CH, Castanheira FVS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) exacerbate severity of infant sepsis. Crit Care. 2019;23(1):113.

73. Fink M, Henry M, Tange JD. Experimental folic acid nephropathy. Pathology. 1987;19(2):143-9.

74. Shen Y, Jiang L, Wen P, Ye Y, Zhang Y, Ding H, et al. Tubule-derived lactate is

required for fibroblast activation in acute kidney injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2020;318(3):F689-f701.

75. Xiao W, E J, Bao L, Fan Y, Jin Y, Wang A, et al. Tubular HIPK2 is a key contributor to renal fibrosis. JCI Insight. 2020;5(17).

76. Bajwa A, Rosin DL, Chroscicki P, Lee S, Dondeti K, Ye H, et al. Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor-1 enhances mitochondrial function and reduces cisplatin-induced tubule injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26(4):908-25.

77. Kennedy AD, DeLeo FR. Neutrophil apoptosis and the resolution of infection. Immunol Res. 2009;43(1-3):25-61.

78. van Dam LS, Rabelink TJ, van Kooten C, Teng YKO. Clinical Implications of Excessive Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation in Renal Autoimmune Diseases. Kidney Int Rep. 2019;4(2):196-211.

79. Provencher Bolliger A, Everds N, Zimmerman K, Moore D, Smith S, Barnhart K. Hematology of laboratory animals, p 852–887. Chapter 110. Schalm's Veterinary Hematology, 6th ed Ames (IA): Wiley-Blackwell. 2010.

80. Tang D, Kang R, Berghe TV, Vandenabeele P, Kroemer G. The molecular machinery of regulated cell death. Cell Res. 2019;29(5):347-64.

81. Swain SD, Rohn TT, Quinn MT. Neutrophil priming in host defense: role of oxidants as priming agents. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2002;4(1):69-83.

82. Schofield ZV, Woodruff TM, Halai R, Wu MC, Cooper MA. Neutrophils--a key component of ischemia-reperfusion injury. Shock. 2013;40(6):463-70.

83. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science. 2004;303(5663):1532-5.

84. Mantovani A, Cassatella MA, Costantini C, Jaillon S. Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(8):519-31.

85. Gardiner EE, Andrews RK. Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) and infection-related vascular dysfunction. Blood Rev. 2012;26(6):255-9.

86. Jones JE, Causey CP, Knuckley B, Slack-Noyes JL, Thompson PR. Protein arginine deiminase 4 (PAD4): Current understanding and future therapeutic potential. Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel. 2009;12(5):616-27.

87. Nakashima K, Hagiwara T, Yamada M. Nuclear localization of peptidylarginine deiminase V and histone deimination in granulocytes. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(51):49562-8.

88. Vossenaar ER, Zendman AJ, van Venrooij WJ, Pruijn GJ. PAD, a growing family of citrullinating enzymes: genes, features and involvement in disease. Bioessays. 2003;25(11):1106-18.

89. Raup-Konsavage WM, Wang Y, Wang WW, Feliers D, Ruan H, Reeves WB. Neutrophil peptidyl arginine deiminase-4 has a pivotal role in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. Kidney Int. 2018;93(2):365-74.

90. Rabadi M, Kim M, D'Agati V, Lee HT. Peptidyl arginine deiminase-4-deficient mice are protected against kidney and liver injury after renal ischemia and reperfusion. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2016;311(2):F437-49.

91. Wang Y, Li M, Stadler S, Correll S, Li P, Wang D, et al. Histone hypercitrullination mediates chromatin decondensation and neutrophil extracellular trap formation. J Cell Biol. 2009;184(2):205-13.

92. Knight JS, Zhao W, Luo W, Subramanian V, O'Dell AA, Yalavarthi S, et al.

Peptidylarginine deiminase inhibition is immunomodulatory and vasculoprotective in murine lupus. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(7):2981-93.

93. Kusunoki Y, Nakazawa D, Shida H, Hattanda F, Miyoshi A, Masuda S, et al. Peptidylarginine Deiminase Inhibitor Suppresses Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation and MPO-ANCA Production. Front Immunol. 2016;7:227.

94. Jansen MP, Emal D, Teske GJ, Dessing MC, Florquin S, Roelofs JJ. Release of extracellular DNA influences renal ischemia reperfusion injury by platelet activation and formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. Kidney Int. 2017;91(2):352-64.

95. Hacbarth E, Kajdacsy-Balla A. Low density neutrophils in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and acute rheumatic fever. Arthritis Rheum. 1986;29(11):1334-42.

96. Zhang S, Lu X, Shu X, Tian X, Yang H, Yang W, et al. Elevated plasma cfDNA may be associated with active lupus nephritis and partially attributed to abnormal regulation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Intern Med. 2014;53(24):2763-71.

97. Bolisetty S, Agarwal A. Neutrophils in acute kidney injury: not neutral any more. Kidney international. 2009;75(7):674-6.

98. Zawrotniak M, Kozik A, Rapala-Kozik M. Selected mucolytic, antiinflammatory and cardiovascular drugs change the ability of neutrophils to form extracellular traps (NETs). Acta Biochim Pol. 2015;62(3):465-73.

99. Metzler KD, Goosmann C, Lubojemska A, Zychlinsky A, Papayannopoulos V. A myeloperoxidase-containing complex regulates neutrophil elastase release and actin dynamics during NETosis. Cell Rep. 2014;8(3):883-96.

100. Papayannopoulos V. Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18(2):134-47.

101. Radic M. Clearance of Apoptotic Bodies, NETs, and Biofilm DNA: Implications for Autoimmunity. Front Immunol. 2014;5:365.

102. Gupta AK, Giaglis S, Hasler P, Hahn S. Efficient neutrophil extracellular trap induction requires mobilization of both intracellular and extracellular calcium pools and is modulated by cyclosporine A. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e97088.

103. Van Avondt K, Hartl D. Mechanisms and disease relevance of neutrophil extracellular trap formation. Eur J Clin Invest. 2018;48 Suppl 2:e12919.

104. Ysebaert DK, De Greef KE, Vercauteren SR, Ghielli M, Verpooten GA, Eyskens EJ, et al. Identification and kinetics of leukocytes after severe

ischaemia/reperfusion renal injury. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2000;15(10):1562-74.

105. Huen SC, Cantley LG. Macrophage-mediated injury and repair after ischemic kidney injury. Pediatr Nephrol. 2015;30(2):199-209.

106. Inoue T, Tanaka S, Okusa MD. Neuroimmune Interactions in Inflammation and Acute Kidney Injury. Front Immunol. 2017;8:945.

107. Lemley KV, Kriz W. Anatomy of the renal interstitium. Kidney Int. 1991;39(3):370-81.

108. Kwiatkowski DP. How malaria has affected the human genome and what human genetics can teach us about malaria. Am J Hum Genet. 2005;77(2):171-92.

109. Smith KG, Clatworthy MR. FcgammaRIIB in autoimmunity and infection: evolutionary and therapeutic implications. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(5):328-43.

110. Niederer HA, Clatworthy MR, Willcocks LC, Smith KG. FcgammaRIIB,

FcgammaRIIIB, and systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1183:69-

88.

111. Daëron M. Fc receptors as adaptive immunoreceptors. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2014;382:131-64.

112. Lee PY, Kumagai Y, Li Y, Takeuchi O, Yoshida H, Weinstein J, et al. TLR7dependent and FcgammaR-independent production of type I interferon in experimental mouse lupus. J Exp Med. 2008;205(13):2995-3006.

113. Ravetch JV, Lanier LL. Immune inhibitory receptors. Science. 2000;290(5489):84-9.

114. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. FcγRs in health and disease. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2011;350:105-25.

115. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fcgamma receptors: old friends and new family members. Immunity. 2006;24(1):19-28.

116. Hargreaves CE, Rose-Zerilli MJ, Machado LR, Iriyama C, Hollox EJ, Cragg MS, et al. Fcγ receptors: genetic variation, function, and disease. Immunol Rev. 2015;268(1):6-24.

117. Jhou JP, Chen SJ, Huang HY, Lin WW, Huang DY, Tzeng SJ. Upregulation of FcγRIIB by resveratrol via NF-κB activation reduces B-cell numbers and ameliorates lupus. Exp Mol Med. 2017;49(9):e381.

118. Zhu X-W, Wang Y, Wei Y-H, Zhao P-P, Wang X-B, Rong J-J, et al. Comprehensive Assessment of the Association between FCGR s polymorphisms and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: Evidence from a Meta-Analysis. Scientific reports. 2016;6(1):1-13.

119. Rees F, Doherty M, Grainge MJ, Lanyon P, Zhang W. The worldwide incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review of epidemiological studies. Rheumatology. 2017;56(11):1945-61.

120. Cooper GS, Sandler DP. Age at natural menopause and mortality. Annals of epidemiology. 1998;8(4):229-35.

121. Doaty S, Agrawal H, Bauer E, Furst DE. Infection and lupus: which causes which? Current rheumatology reports. 2016;18(3):13.

122. Kamal A, Khamashta M. The efficacy of novel B cell biologics as the future of SLE treatment: a review. Autoimmunity reviews. 2014;13(11):1094-101.

123. Cojocaru M, Cojocaru IM, Silosi I, Vrabie CD. Manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. Maedica (Bucur). 2011;6(4):330-6.

124. Almaani S, Meara A, Rovin BH. Update on Lupus Nephritis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;12(5):825-35.

125. Yung S, Chan TM. Anti-dsDNA antibodies and resident renal cells—Their putative roles in pathogenesis of renal lesions in lupus nephritis. Clinical Immunology. 2017;185:40-50.

126. Fenton KA, Rekvig OP. A central role of nucleosomes in lupus nephritis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1108:104-13.

127. Reveille J. Predictive value of autoantibodies for activity of systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2004;13(5):290-7.

128. Krishnan C, Kaplan MH. Immunopathologic studies of systemic lupus erythematosus. II. Antinuclear reaction of gamma-globulin eluted from homogenates and isolated glomeruli of kidneys from patients with lupus nephritis. J Clin Invest. 1967;46(4):569-79.

129. van der Vlag J, Berden JH. Lupus nephritis: role of antinucleosome

autoantibodies. Semin Nephrol. 2011;31(4):376-89.

130. Zickert A, Palmblad K, Sundelin B, Chavan S, Tracey KJ, Bruchfeld A, et al. Renal expression and serum levels of high mobility group box 1 protein in lupus nephritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012;14(1):R36.

131. Lou H, Wojciak-Stothard B, Ruseva MM, Cook HT, Kelleher P, Pickering MC, et al. Autoantibody-dependent amplification of inflammation in SLE. Cell death & disease. 2020;11(9):1-15.

132. Fenton KA, Tømmerås B, Marion TN, Rekvig OP. Pure anti-dsDNA mAbs need chromatin structures to promote glomerular mesangial deposits in BALB/c mice. Autoimmunity. 2010;43(2):179-88.

133. Kalaaji M, Fenton KA, Mortensen ES, Olsen R, Sturfelt G, Alm P, et al. Glomerular apoptotic nucleosomes are central target structures for nephritogenic antibodies in human SLE nephritis. Kidney Int. 2007;71(7):664-72.

134. Tsang ASMW, Nagelkerke SQ, Bultink IE, Geissler J, Tanck MW, Tacke CE, et al. Fc-gamma receptor polymorphisms differentially influence susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus nephritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2016;55(5):939-48.

135. Delgado-Rizo V, Martínez-Guzmán MA, Iñiguez-Gutierrez L, García-Orozco A, Alvarado-Navarro A, Fafutis-Morris M. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps and Its Implications in Inflammation: An Overview. Front Immunol. 2017;8:81.

136. Nakazawa D, Kumar SV, Marschner J, Desai J, Holderied A, Rath L, et al. Histones and Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Enhance Tubular Necrosis and Remote Organ Injury in Ischemic AKI. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(6):1753-68.

137. Dépret F, Prud'homme M, Legrand M. A Role of Remote Organs Effect in Acute Kidney Injury Outcome. Nephron. 2017;137(4):273-6.

138. Liu J, Dong Z. Neutrophil extracellular traps in ischemic AKI: new way to kill. Kidney Int. 2018;93(2):303-5.

139. Underhill DM, Iliev ID. The mycobiota: interactions between commensal fungi and the host immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(6):405-16.

140. Akira S. Toll receptor families: structure and function. Semin Immunol. 2004;16(1):1-2.

141. Piccinini AM, Midwood KS. DAMPening inflammation by modulating TLR signalling. Mediators Inflamm. 2010;2010.

142. Sabroe I, Prince LR, Jones EC, Horsburgh MJ, Foster SJ, Vogel SN, et al. Selective roles for Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and TLR4 in the regulation of neutrophil activation and life span. J Immunol. 2003;170(10):5268-75.

143. Azzouz D, Palaniyar N. ApoNETosis: discovery of a novel form of neutrophil death with concomitant apoptosis and NETosis. Cell Death Dis. 2018;9(8):839.

144. Mahajan A, Herrmann M, Muñoz LE. Clearance Deficiency and Cell Death Pathways: A Model for the Pathogenesis of SLE. Front Immunol. 2016;7:35.

145. Gottschalk TA, Tsantikos E, Hibbs ML. Pathogenic Inflammation and Its
Therapeutic Targeting in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Front Immunol. 2015;6:550.
146. Espéli M, Bashford-Rogers R, Sowerby JM, Alouche N, Wong L, Denton AE, et al. FcγRIIb differentially regulates pre-immune and germinal center B cell tolerance in mouse and human. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):1970.

147. Bouts YM, Wolthuis DF, Dirkx MF, Pieterse E, Simons EM, van Boekel AM, et al. Apoptosis and NET formation in the pathogenesis of SLE. Autoimmunity. 2012;45(8):597-601.

148. Petretto A, Bruschi M, Pratesi F, Croia C, Candiano G, Ghiggeri G, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps (NET) induced by different stimuli: A comparative proteomic analysis. PLoS One. 2019;14(7):e0218946.

149. Chang MY, Huang DY, Ho FM, Huang KC, Lin WW. PKC-dependent human monocyte adhesion requires AMPK and Syk activation. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e40999. 150. Wen HC, Huo YN, Chou CM, Lee WS. PMA inhibits endothelial cell migration through activating the PKC- $\delta$ /Syk/NF- $\kappa$ B-mediated up-regulation of Thy-1. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):16247.

151. Redza-Dutordoir M, Averill-Bates DA. Activation of apoptosis signalling pathways by reactive oxygen species. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016;1863(12):2977-92.
152. Saisorn W, Saithong S, Phuengmaung P, Udompornpitak K, Bhunyakarnjanarat T, Visitchanakun P, et al. Acute Kidney Injury Induced Lupus Exacerbation Through the Enhanced Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (and Apoptosis) in Fcgr2b Deficient Lupus Mice With Renal Ischemia Reperfusion Injury. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021;12:2336.





**Chulalongkorn University** 

## VITA

Wilasinee Saisorn 1 October 1994 Rayong, Thailand Master of Science 1208 Soi Chan Mueang 6, Ratchadaphisek road, Din Daeng, Bangkok, 10400 Saisorn W, Saithong S, Udompornpitak K, Bhunyakarnjanarat T, Phuengmaung P, Visitchanakun P, Chareonsappakit A, Pisitkun P, Chiewchengchol D, Leelahavanichkul A. Acute kidney injury induced lupus exacerbation through the enhanced neutrophil extracellular traps (and apoptosis) in Fcgr2b deficient lupus mice with renal ischemia reperfusion injury. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021;12:2336.

NAME

**DATE OF BIRTH** 

PLACE OF BIRTH

**INSTITUTIONS** ATTENDED **HOME ADDRESS** 

**PUBLICATION**